TRAVELING MADE EASY

Budget T, R, A, Y, E, L

Geoffrey Morrison





Budget Travel

by Geoffrey Morrison



Budget Travel For Dummies®

Published by: **John Wiley & Sons, Inc.,** 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030−5774, www.wiley.com Copyright © 2024 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Media and software compilation copyright © 2024 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved. Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: WHILE THE PUBLISHER AND AUTHORS HAVE USED THEIR BEST EFFORTS IN PREPARING THIS WORK, THEY MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES. INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES REPRESENTATIVES, WRITTEN SALES MATERIALS OR PROMOTIONAL STATEMENTS FOR THIS WORK. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION, WEBSITE, OR PRODUCT IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/ OR POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE PUBLISHER AND AUTHORS ENDORSE THE INFORMATION OR SERVICES THE ORGANIZATION, WEBSITE, OR PRODUCT MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR YOUR SITUATION. YOU SHOULD CONSULT WITH A SPECIALIST WHERE APPROPRIATE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR AUTHORS SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OF PROFIT OR ANY OTHER COMMERCIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR OTHER DAMAGES.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit https://hub.wiley.com/community/support/dummies.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2023951015

ISBN 978-1-394-21295-8 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-394-21297-2 (ebk); ISBN 978-1-394-21296-5 (ebk)

Contents at a Glance

Introduction	1
CHAPTER 1: Wanting to Travel at Any Cost	5
CHAPTER 2: A Fist Full of Dollars (And Euros and Yen)	17
CHAPTER 3: Plan Less for More Fun	39
CHAPTER 4: Now Boarding: Finding the Right Flights	55
CHAPTER 5: Where to Lay Your Head	79
CHAPTER 6: Taking the "Lug" Out of Luggage	103
снартек 7: Packing Light, Packing Perfection	119
CHAPTER 8: Getting Online While on the Road	147
снартек 9: Living Locally on the Cheap	163
снартек 10: Sidestepping Common Blunders	183
снартек 11: Time to Head Out — Or Is It?	201
CHAPTER 12: Settling In for an Extended Stay	
CHAPTER 13: Ten Things Worth Splurging On	235
Appendix: Travel Checklists	241
Index	247

Table of Contents

IIVIKO	DUCTION	1
	About This Book	1
	Foolish Assumptions	2
	Icons Used in This Book	
	Beyond the Book	3
	Where to Go from Here	
	Wanting to Travel at Any Cost	_
CHAPTER 1:	Wanting to Travel at Any Cost	
	Ditching the Notion That Travel Has to Be Expensive	
	Deciding Where to Go	
	What kind of experience are you looking for?	
	Ideas for first-time travelers	
	Don't try to do everything at once	
	Focusing on Less So You Can Enjoy More	
	The challenge of planning to do less	
	How to narrow your focus (one city, not five)	
	Travel days eat into your adventure	
	Budget Travel that Doesn't Feel Like Budget Travel	15
CHAPTER 2:	A Fist Full of Dollars (And Euros and Yen)	17
CHAPTER 2:		
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	18
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget? Travel can be more affordable than you think	18 19
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget? Travel can be more affordable than you think Why \$50 a day is a great place to start your budget	18 19 20
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget? Travel can be more affordable than you think Why \$50 a day is a great place to start your budget Airfare considerations	18 19 20
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	18 20 21
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget? Travel can be more affordable than you think Why \$50 a day is a great place to start your budget Airfare considerations Unexpected costs Saving for Travel Saving money now saves stress later	18 20 21 23
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget? Travel can be more affordable than you think Why \$50 a day is a great place to start your budget Airfare considerations Unexpected costs Saving for Travel Saving money now saves stress later Automatic savings	1820212223
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	182021222324
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	
CHAPTER 2:	What's a Realistic Travel Budget?	

	Some cards are bad for travel	32
	Unforeseen fees can eat into your budget	32
	The convenience and safety of using your phone instead	33
	Protecting Yourself and Your Belongings with Insurance	34
	The necessity of insurance (personal experience)	35
	Don't assume your current health insurance covers you	37
	What travel insurance covers, and what it doesn't	37
CHAPTER 3:	Plan Less for More Fun	39
	Planning Less Reduces Stress	40
	I used to be an extensive planner and I was wrong	
	How planning less actually reduces stress	41
	Trading current stress for future stress	
	Traveling Without a Plan (Yes, It's Possible!)	44
	I've traveled for months without a schedule	
	There's (almost) always lodging available	
	Apps that help you navigate and more	
	Not all will go according to your lack of plan	
	The Drawbacks of Guided Tours, Cruises, and All-Inclusive Resorts	
	Pre-planned, packaged vacations are not cost effective	
	If it's "included," you're paying for it	
	You rarely get to see the real location you're visiting	
	You won't meet the locals and travelers	5 1
	from other countries	52
	Lightly guided tours: The potential exception	
	Now Boarding: Finding the Right Flights	
CHAPTER 4:		
	Booking Flights Yourself versus Hiring a Travel Agent	
	Do you need a travel agent?	
	What is your time worth?	
	Costs and trust	
	Booking Flights	
	When to book flights	
	When to fly	
	Where to fly	
	A huge exception	
	Searching in incognito mode	
	Using third-party booking websites	
	Google Flights	
	Average prices over time	65

	Spending a little more to fly at better times or get shorter flights	66
	Pros and cons of one-way tickets	
	Don't expect huge discounts or deals	
	Choosing between Budget Airlines and Major Carriers	
	Behind the scenes (airline costs)	
	How much cheaper, really?	
	Hidden costs and penalties	
	Accumulating miles/points	
	The "Value" of Credit Card Points	
	What points can do for you	
	What they can't do for you	
	The ever-depreciating value	
	Spending More to Save Time	
	A hotel near transit or your "must-see" locations	
	Trains over buses	
	A moment to relax	
CHAPTER 5:	Where to Lay Your Head	79
	Accommodation Basics	80
	Comparing various accommodation types	81
	Finding the best location	83
	Similar prices across the web	
	The Secret to Inexpensive Lodging: Hostels	
	(Wait, Keep Reading!)	84
	This is the secret no one tells you	
	Hostels aren't what you think	
	Hostels aren't just for young adults	
	What's a high-end hostel?	
	Meet new people, or not	
	The Benefits of Hostels and Hostel Life	
	Drastically lower your per-day expense	
	Convenient kitchens and refrigerators	
	Location (location, location)	
	Easy-to-get local advice for what to see and do	
	Brilliant for solo travelers	
	Hostels for Dummies	
	Basic hostel etiquette	93
	Details to consider (private rooms, single-sex dorms, no kids, and so on)	ດວ
	Handy must-haves to have on hand	
	Hostel examples around the world	
	1 103(C) CAUTIDICS AI VALIA LIE WOLIA	

	Other Inexpensive Lodgings	97
	Couchsurfing	98
	Why Airbnb isn't as cheap as it seems	98
	The best? Meeting people and staying with them!	100
CHAPTER 6:	Taking the "Lug" Out of Luggage	103
	What You Can't Leave Behind (but Should)	104
	Why traveling light is the best gift you can give yourself	
	Move fast, don't break things	
	Save on luggage fees	
	Travel easier on buses, trains, cars, and more	
	Shocking game changer: laundry	
	Don't Waste Money on Luggage	
	Expensive luggage is a waste of money	
	Most of the world isn't smooth concrete	109
	Smaller luggage lets you focus on what you really need	110
	If you can't easily carry it, it's too much	110
	Backpack versus Luggage	111
	My subjective opinion: Backpacks are best	
	The brilliance of "travel" backpacks	
	Reasonable reasons to get wheeled luggage instead	
	Hybrids	
	To Carry On, or Not to Carry On	116
CHAPTER 7:	Packing Light, Packing Perfection	119
	What to Pack for Unlimited Travel	
	Don't try to bring everything	
	If you "think" you might need it, you won't	
	Seriously, just do laundry	
	Packing less than one week's worth of clothes	
	Packing for different climates	127
	Shopping Locally	127
	The joy of buying something you need while traveling	
	Most of the world has the same things you can	
	find at home	
	Tech Must-Haves to Bring on Every Trip	
	USB-battery packs (aka power banks)	
	Plug adapters	
	Cables and a good charger	
	Headphones (preferably noise canceling)	
	Memory cards (if you have a camera)	
	Travel laptop or tablet	134

	Kindle or other e-Reader	135
	Saving money on camera gear	135
	Gadgets and Gear to Avoid	136
	Pretty much any "travel gadget" (especially	
	advertised on social media)	
	"Travel SIMs" (probably)	
	Special "travel clothes"	
	Bulky laptops	
	Money belts	
	Anything that attaches to an airplane seat	
	Portable solar panels and solar-charging batteries	
	Sleeping bags	
	You probably don't need a camera	141
	Packing for Dummies	
	Core items	
	Climate/trip-specific items	
	Optional items	144
CHAPTER 8:	Getting Online While on the Road	
	You Don't Need to Do without Data	148
	Why you should make sure you have	
	data/internet abroad	
	How to get inexpensive international data anywhere	
	Unlocking your phone and other potential issues	
	Password managers and locking down your accounts	
	Making Sure You Can Back Up to the Cloud	
	What's a cloud backup?	
	Saving all your photos and videos on the go	
	Stashing a copy of your passport and other info	
	Downloading Movies, Maps, and Other Cool Apps	
	What are you going to listen to?	
	Download maps to use later	
	Shows and movies to watch on the plane	
	Must-have apps	
	Apps to (probably) avoid	161
CHAPTER 9:	Living Locally on the Cheap	163
C.IMI 1ER 3.	Eating Like a Local	
	Thinking of grocery stores as an adventure	
	Restaurants eat your budget, but go anyway	
	Avoid eating in tourist spots	106

	The fridge at the hostel or hotel can save you money	16/
	The glorious wonder that is "street food"	167
	Exploring Efficiently or Not	168
	Loosely planning your route	169
	Taking advantage of "free" walking tours	169
	Checking for free days or discounts at museums	
	and monuments	
	Allowing yourself to get a little lost	
	Knowing how to get from anywhere to anywhere	
	Car rental dos and don'ts	
	Sleep in your car?	173
	Electric scooters	174
	Bicycles	174
	Metro Movin'	
	Navigating local metro systems	176
	Getting a metro card	176
	Using the local metro app	177
	Fitting In	178
	Spoiler: You won't fit in and that's okay	178
	The faux faux-pas of different places	
	and offending people	
	Local clothes (proceed with caution)	
	Ask locals	
	Learning the language	180
	Homestays	181
CHAPTER 10:	Sidestepping Common Blunders	183
	Shopping in a Marketplace: Hustles versus Bargaining	
	Cultural differences	
	The hard sell (just say no)	
	Bargaining is a skill and they're professionals	
	Spotting Hidden Fees and Trying to Decline Them	
	Airline fees	
	"Late" checkout fees	
	"Resort" and cleaning fees	
	Can you decline the fees?	
	Being the Least Obvious Target	
	Most places are safe mostly	
	Look like you know where you're going	
	Don't display expensive items	
	Locks and codes	
	LOCKS 0110 CO0CS	1 7 4

Don't ke	eep everything in one place	193
Be awar	re of your surroundings	193
What to Do	o if You Get Robbed	194
An unfo	rtunate possibility	194
Reportii	ng the incident to the local police	195
Cancelir	ng cards and changing passwords	195
Contact	ing your insurance	196
Finding	local replacements	196
Other Com	ımon Blunders	197
	cking	
	inning	
Not inco	orporating rest or downtime	199
CHARTER 44. Time to	Head Out — Or Is It?	201
	xible	
, ,	ng the weather (or not)	
	ble to change locations for any reason	
	v (No, Slower)	
	g burnout	
	g yourself instead of checking things off a list	
	bering it's all an adventure!	
	ime to Move On	
	new accommodations	
	ort options	
	g to a different city or even a different country	
	ng friends	
	o if There's a Problem	
Local er	nergency numbers	211
	hone numbers	
	ır Family/Friends Know Where You Are	
Supres 40 Settling	In for an Extended Stay	215
	ound When You Can't Tear Yourself Away	
	for an extra day, week, or month	
	ı just not go home?	
	o do about mail, bills, and more	
	oout all your stuff now, and later?	
	emote isn't an option	
	Flights versus Canceling Flights	
CHARLET	* C. Jaj Callecille 115116	

	Costs/fees/hassle	221
	Can you postpone instead?	222
	Canceling and getting a new flight	222
	One-way tickets	
٧	When Do You Need a Visa?	223
	What's a visa?	224
	Options for extending your visa	225
	The perils of "visa runs"	225
	Exploring different ways to stay	226
	Volunteering (aka volunteer travel)	227
E	Becoming a Digital Nomad	227
	What's a digital nomad?	228
	Working from "home" when home is anywhere	228
	Downsides	229
H	How It Works from Someone Who Has Done	
li li	t for a Decade	231
	A typical day	231
	A typical week	232
	A typical month and more	233
HAPTER 13: 7	Fen Things Worth Splurging On	235
	Great Local Food	
	Jnique Local Activities	
	A Night to Relax at a Nice Hotel	
	A Good Backpack	
	A Decent Flight and Location	
	Comfortable Sneakers/Walking Shoes	
	JSB Battery Pack	
	Good Noise-Canceling Headphones	
	Literally Anything on Your "Bucket List"	
	Fravel Itself	
APPEND	IX: TRAVEL CHECKLISTS	241
INIDEV		
NDFX		247

Introduction

icture yourself relaxing on a tropical beach with white sand and azure waters. Picture yourself exploring the cobblestone alleyways of an ancient city. Picture yourself on horseback among a herd of zebras. If you could go anywhere in the world right now, where would it be? What's stopping you?

If you're like most people, the answer is money. The good news is, travel doesn't have to be outrageously expensive. *Budget Travel For Dummies* shows you how to keep costs low and still have an adventure you'll remember forever.

You can discover not only how to make your next trip more affordable but also how to make all travel so easy and inexpensive you're able to head out and explore again and again and again. You can find out not only how to budget money for a trip but also how to budget the true rarest of resources: time.

There's a whole world of adventure out there. Let's go explore.

About This Book

This book is the culmination of ten years of extensive and extended travels in addition to ten-plus years before that making many, many travel mistakes. I've written about travel for *The New York Times*, *Forbes*, and numerous other publications, all while traveling through 60 countries, 50 states, and during months of continuous adventure. There are numerous personal anecdotes throughout these pages, and I've included advice from other travelers I've met on the road.

Topics covered in this book include

- >> Getting the most bang for your traveling buck
- >> How to pack for any trip and save on luggage
- >> Budget-friendly lodging and dining all over the world
- >> How to get the best price on airfare
- >> Common travel blunders to avoid
- >> And more!

I've organized the book to flow from initial planning, to booking flights and accommodations, to packing, then on to things you'll need to keep in mind while you're traveling. Feel free to bounce around, though!

Foolish Assumptions

The foolish assumptions are actually by me about you! While writing this book I've had an idea in my head about who you are, with the hope that I can pre-answer any questions you have and write about things you want to know. Broadly speaking, I had two types of people in mind for this book. First, someone who's new to travel. Second, someone who has traveled but wants to travel a lot more. In both cases, of course, they're on a tight budget. More specifically, you're

- >> Someone who wants to travel, perhaps for the first time, and you can't figure out how to afford it.
- Someone who has the time to travel more, but not the money.

A few more general assumptions:

- Most of my advice can apply to solo travelers as well as couples and families. I've made specific callouts when that's not the case.
- >> My advice throughout is for adults of "all ages." There's no upper or lower limit on travel, budget or otherwise.
- >> My advice isn't gender specific. I am a man, but I've had lengthy conversations with women (friends and fellow travelers) and have made sure to include their advice throughout this book.

Perhaps most importantly, I don't believe in gatekeeping travel. If you're 80 and want to see elephants in the wild, 20 and want to stand on the battlefield of Thermopylae, or 50 and want a selfie atop the Eiffel Tower, do it. It's all an adventure, and you should follow your heart. My goal is to help you afford it — not just that next trip, but the one after, and the one after that, and the one after that...

Icons Used in This Book

Throughout the book, I use a handful of icons to point out various types of information. Here's what they are and what they mean:



This is an important point that's key to budget travel or travel in general.

REMEMBER



I've traveled a lot and I've found a lot of ways to make it easier. These tips should help you too, though they're often more situational.



Basically the negative version of a "Tip," something that might cause an issue or is worth avoiding if possible.

WARNING



ONLINE

This icon points out helpful online resources as well as items you can find on the resources page at www.dummies.com/go/budgettravelfd.

Beyond the Book

I've put together an online resources page to help you get the best prices on flights, find the right accommodations, and more. Here's what you can find:

- >> Direct links to the best booking websites
- >> Links to trusted (by me) gear review sites
- >> Visa, passport, and other important travel info

Just go to www.dummies.com/go/budgettravelfd. Be sure to bookmark the site so you can easily find it later.

Where to Go from Here

Everywhere! No, seriously. The world is a lot smaller than it seems. Go wherever seems interesting to you, assuming it's in your budget and welcoming of visitors.

Where you should go in this book is an easier question. You can certainly read it chapter to chapter, cover to cover, if you want. There's certainly lots of info throughout (I hope!) and even if it's a section you're not sure you need, there might be some nuggets in there that you weren't expecting.

Alternately, you can bounce around. If you just want to know about booking cheap flights, finding the best place to stay, or what to pack, you can dive into those chapters directly. There's no Budget Travel Extended Universe you'll need to research to get the most out of each section. If there is something I explain better elsewhere in the book, I make a note of it.

If you're new to travel, I would say starting with Chapters 1 to 3 is a good idea. They'll give you a framework about what travel in general and budget travel specifically can be. They include a lot of "best practices" that will help throughout your adventures.

If you're a more advanced traveler and just want to know some key ways to save money, Chapters 4 and 5 are two important chapters to help keep your costs down.

Lastly, if you're really advanced and want to know about how to travel for weeks, months, or longer, start with Chapters 11 and 12.

Thanks for reading. I hope your next adventure is epic!

- » Figuring out where you want to go
- » Narrowing down your to-do list
- » Living large on a small budget

Chapter **1**Wanting to Travel at Any Cost

dventure — that's what travel means to me. Whether it's exploring the streets of Vienna, floating in the clear blue waters of Fiji, or hiking through a rainforest, it's all an adventure. Travel can be a weekend away upstate, or a multimonth journey around the world. Big budget or small, long or short, travel can make you feel alive, rejuvenate your psyche, and give you memories you'll cherish for a lifetime.

The trick, of course, is being able to afford it. Don't worry, though. I'm here to help you become an avid traveler whatever your budget.



Be sure to check out www.dummies.com/go/budgettravelfd to find any web addresses mentioned in the chapter as well as links to other fun and useful sites.

Ditching the Notion That Travel Has to Be Expensive

You don't need to be rich to travel. I mean, sure, it'd be great to hop on your private jet, get whisked away to your private island, and enjoy a feast prepared by your private chef. If you've got a line on how to do that, I'm all ears. But I'm not waiting around to hit that lottery. I've traveled for months at a time on a limited budget. How limited? Less than many people spend on rent, even to gorgeous locations like the one in Figure 1–1.



Geoffrey Morrison

FIGURE 1-1: It's possible to travel on a budget just about everywhere!

The fact is, the way most people travel is significantly more expensive than it needs to be. I've heard people who were convinced that a trip to Europe can't cost less than \$4,000 plus airfare. I've heard people dismiss entire countries because they think it will cost too much. Most upsetting, I've heard from far too many people who think that *all* travel is "too expensive," despite having an income higher than mine.

This is one of the few times in this book I'm going to be judgmental: Most people are wrong about travel. It doesn't have to be expensive. It can be affordable enough that most people, with a little planning and savings, can travel anywhere. While I don't have just one secret that allows this (that would be a pretty short

book!), there are a variety of simple adjustments and "best practices" in this book that can greatly reduce the cost of every aspect of your adventure.

My goal is to show you not only how you can afford your next trip, but also how to use the skills you'll learn to have one after that, and one after that, and fully embrace the goal of adventure. Because no matter where you want to go, the way to get there is budget travel (hey — that's the title of the book!).

Deciding Where to Go

By far the best way to be able to afford travel is picking your destination carefully. This, above all other tips and tricks, will save you the most money. Or to put it another way, your money goes a lot farther in some places than in others. Don't get me wrong, if you've got your heart set on seeing the lights of Paris or the sun setting over Serengeti, there are ways to make that affordable, too.

If you just want to get *out there*, to go somewhere you can't read the signs and no one knows your name, you can find a variety of options similar to the popular places where you can enjoy a comparable experience at a fraction of the cost.

For example, Tokyo is one of the most expensive cities in the world. If you're looking for the hustle and bustle of a huge city, along with some amazing varieties of food, Taipei is significantly more affordable. London is another hugely expensive city, but if you're looking for history and atmosphere, Lisbon has that Old World feel and is easier on the budget.

Not every place has a less-expensive option. If you have your heart set on Paris, France, then Paris, Texas, is not going to work. The Luxor in Las Vegas is not the same as Luxor, Egypt. It's a big world out there, though, and there are adventures to be had all over. If your budget is limited now, you can get out there, explore, and make some memories right away without having to save up for three years for just one short trip.

With any luck, you'll have more money in the future to venture into more expensive places. Or even better, you'll discover from

this book and your initial budget travels how to become such a clever and frugal traveler that you can spend days and weeks in even these expensive places, with a budget that seems impossibly low right now.



For now, if you're not set on a location, several flight booking sites (more on these in Chapter 4) can show you what the cheapest flights are from your closest airport. The best deals might be a less-visited and less-expensive location.

If you're not sure where to go, the following sections should help you narrow down the best destination for your next adventure.

What kind of experience are you looking for?

Some types of travel are more affordable than others. If it's your dream to spend weeks on safari in southern Africa, that's going to be difficult to do on the cheap. If you want to try every restaurant and café along the river Seine, you're going to need deep pockets.

What is it about the location that appeals to you? If there's some personal reason, that's great. But if it's just "I want to see X," it's worth asking yourself what it is about that specific location that's drawing you there. If it's to see something unique about that location, the Eiffel Tower or Iguaçu Falls, go for it. If it's just to be on a beach, to climb a mountain, or explore an unfamiliar city, there are lots of inexpensive and still incredible options.

Of course, you don't have to have a reason. I'm absolutely not trying to talk you out of seeing what you want to see. I've certainly done plenty of "touristy" trips myself (see Figure 1-2 for just one example), and I don't think there's anything wrong with that. Even if it's just "I want to take a picture on the Great Wall of China," don't let anyone talk you out of it. I've certainly gone on trips for worse reasons. I once took a series of trains from northern England to Spain because I thought it'd be funny and make a good story. It was, it did, and I won't do it again.



If your budget is extremely limited, though, and you just need to get out and see the world, figuring out what you want from travel is the first step in figuring out what locations can satisfy that desire, and more importantly, which of those are affordable.



Geoffrey Morrison

FIGURE 1-2: The picturesque village of Hallstatt, Austria is a UNESCO World Heritage Site and gets thousands of visitors a day. It's gorgeous, but so are many other less-visited towns in the area.

Ideas for first-time travelers

It's a big world out there. That's exciting, but also daunting. If you're new to travel, the whole idea can be intimidating. It's awesome if you have an endless list of places you want to see and things you want to do, but don't feel the need to tackle all of it at once. The idea of budget travel is not to be cheap but choosy so that you can make travel sustainable on your budget. Rather than breaking the bank for a singular "trip of a lifetime," the goal is to take as many trips as often as possible throughout your lifetime, creating countless memories over many years.

Hopefully, you can narrow down your dream travel list to what you want to see the most. Don't let anyone make you feel guilty about what's on this short list. If you want to take a selfie in front of the Leaning Tower of Pisa or eat sushi at a fish market in Japan, you do you. It's all an adventure and as long as you treat the locals with respect and you have fun, who cares what your former roommate's brother's partner's jealous cousin has to say about it.



Throughout this book I give you tips that should help you wherever you want to go, but I want to give you this piece of advice now, before you get your heart set on any one place: start slow. If this is your first trip of hopefully many, stick to one place, and ideally, a place that's not overly challenging to visit.

I'm not here to yuck anyone's yums, but for novice travelers I generally recommend places that are well-known tourist destinations. This partially goes against my advice of going where the tourists aren't, but there's a line to be walked for sure between affordability and accessibility. Perhaps the cheapest destination isn't as easy to navigate as a slightly more expensive option. On the other hand, the easiest destination could be the most expensive for getting around, while one a bit cheaper could prove nearly as easy.

What do I mean by "easy"? Tourist-friendly destinations will have the infrastructure to help you out if something goes wrong, many people will speak English, and it will be fairly simple to get around. Cities might be entirely walkable or have an extensive metro system. Grocery stores and inexpensive eateries will be plentiful. Stores will take your credit cards, or it will be easy to find a cash machine.

Later, when you've got a few trips under your belt, feel free to go somewhere you'll never hear English, no one takes credit cards, and the hotels are a room in some guy's garage. Some of the best adventures in my life have been to places where I've vibrantly stuck out like every inch of the bald, bespectacled weirdo that I am. It's great! It's just not something even I could have handled at the start of my extended travels.

Of course, I realize many live life according to the credo that says being out of your comfort zone is the only way to live. At least, that's what all the posters, candle holders, bathmats, and pillow cushions at IKEA tell me. I don't disagree, but there's being out of your comfort zone, and there's being out of your comfort zone. If you're new to travel, maybe bushwacking through a swamp five hours from the nearest town isn't the best way to start.

So find your own way and your own adventure, but as someone that's done this for a while, there's no shame in starting small. In fact, starting small is an amazing gateway into something epic.



TIF

If you're not set on a specific destination, there's no harm starting with places where you speak the language. There's endless fun being in places where you don't, but for a first overseas adventure, it's okay to start with at least one thing you're familiar with.

Don't try to do everything at once



By far the biggest, and often expensive, mistake new or infrequent travelers make is trying to cram in everything, everywhere, all at once. If you've been saving for months and only have two weeks to travel, it's understandable you want to see everything possible. But this is a recipe for disaster. I discuss more about planning in Chapter 2, but it's crucial to start pushing back on your own intentions before you've set anything in stone. Narrowing your focus to one place or area will not only save you money but will also make your trip better overall. Wanting to see every capital in Europe during a two-week vacation is not a tenable plan. One or maybe two is a far better start.

I made this mistake for many years, and it never ended well. I'd be disappointed I didn't see certain things, I'd be rushed seeing the things I did see, and through it all, nothing but stress.

Here are a few things to keep in mind now:

- >> You'll always see less than you want to.
- >> The more you try to do, the more expensive the entire trip.
- >> Quality time with a few things is almost always better than mediocre time with many things.
- Flexibility is the best gift your planning self can give your traveling self.



There's nothing wrong with a to-do list. They're great! Just don't expect to do it all. Prioritize and plan, with the intention of changing as you go.

Focusing on Less So You Can Enjoy More

When you're looking at a series of dates in the future, it can be easy to think you have more time than you actually do. Everything always takes longer than you expected. Take a step back. What city have you visited the most? Could you explore it all in a day or two? There's no reason to think you could do the same while on vacation. If your itinerary involves something like "We'll spend an hour here, and then an hour here . . ." stop. You're almost certainly trying to do too much.

Dialing back the number of things you want to do will not only save you money and stress, but it will also let you be in the moment and enjoy the things you're actually doing. In the above example, what if you get to the first location and want to spend more than an hour there? What happens then?

I'm not saying pick only one thing to do each day, though that can be fun, too. I'm saying don't plan on seeing five cities in ten days or four museums in an afternoon. You'll always be on the go. Doesn't that sound like work? Generally, I try to spend at least three days in any location and limit my daily to-do list to just a few things. Sometimes three days isn't enough and a few things is too much, but it's a safe place to start.

Keep transit to a minimum. Planes, trains, and automobiles are fun, but unless your intention is to enjoy the transit itself as part of your adventure (and for what it's worth, I do), then the time spent in transit could be better spent enjoying yourself in that place you just left.



Multi-city travel agendas are perilous. I'm not saying don't do it, but you should be cautious. Far too much could go wrong, and it's possible you'll be seeing the inside of a vehicle more than the place you're visiting.

Planning less is one of the greatest challenges for any lover of travel. Whether it's wanting to get the most out of a hard-earned dollar or not wanting to waste precious vacation time, everything in your being is going to want to plan as much as possible. Here's why you should resist that urge.

The challenge of planning to do less

This is all crazy, right? Who am I to tell you your five-day, 14-city adventure isn't going to be legendary. Well, I've traveled a lot, all over the world (60 countries and counting), and in all my years of travel, every time I've tried to do a lot, it has gone poorly, and every time I've tried to do less, it has been amazing.

I get it, though. There's immense pressure for an expensive trip to be perfect. I call this "The Curse of 'Once in a Lifetime.'" I hate the phrase "once in a lifetime" because it's often absolute nonsense and a toxic way to think about travel. Going to Europe for two weeks? Not once in a lifetime. Seeing a zebra in South Africa? Nope. Hiking Angel's Landing at Zion National Park to watch

the sunset? Okay, that one is definitely once in a lifetime for me because there is no way I'm doing that hike again.

What I'm saying is it's vital to push back against the idea that your next trip is the only trip you'll ever take. If you don't see something this trip, you can go again. The whole idea of budget travel, in my mind, is to make travel inexpensive enough that you can do it over and over again. Not, "I went to Europe once for two weeks," but instead, "I went to Europe last year, and I'm going again this summer." Not, "I saw a zebra in South Africa," but instead, "I saw a zebra in South Africa, and I'm going to Zimbabwe next spring."

If you embrace the mindset that there will be a next time, it can greatly reduce the stress in needing to see everything possible in one go. Sure, it would be great to do everything on your list during one trip, but if it's at the cost of always feeing rushed and not enjoying any of it, what's the point?

And if you do miss something then — oh no — you'll have to go back. How terrible. Better start looking at flights now.

How to narrow your focus (one city, not five)

Make a to-do list. Apps like Keep on Android and Notes on iOS let you create a list and have access to it from any internet-connected device. Make a huge list! Go nuts! But as you do, figure out what's most important. You're never going to see it all. You'll probably only see a fraction of it and that's absolutely fine. What is it you *really* want to see or do? What are the core memories you want to create on this specific trip. As you add something new to the list, slot it in above things you currently find less interesting. Soon enough you'll have a list that's in a rough order of things you want to do from most interesting to least.

Now that you have this semi-ordered list, pick the things you absolutely have to do. Maybe this final curated list is just a few things. If it's just one thing, that's even easier! Try to keep this "must-do" list as short as possible. It will make your trip far more manageable and less expensive. If you're able to do everything on your core list, you'll still have the rest of the list for ideas. With any luck, you'll find other cool things to do once you get there.